COURT'O APPEALS ISION II 2015 JUN 18 PM 3: 33 NACHIMATON STATE OF BY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO.46852-2-II

JEREMY EDWARD GAINES v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Thomas J. Felnagle Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-02515-1

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

By

Barbara Corey, WSBA #11778 Attorney for Appellant

902 South 10th Street Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 779-0844

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court denied Mr. Gaines his constitutional right to retained counsel of his choice even after trial counsel invited the deputy prosecutor to discuss plea bargaining a case where Mr. Gaines was represented by other counsel and that counsel had not been notified of this contact, not consented to it, and also after there had been a breakdown in attorney-client communication.

2. The trial court violated Mr. Gaines right to privacy under (Washington Constitution Article I, section 7), and right to be free from unlawful searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution when it affirmed the search warrant for his car.

3. The trial court erred when it entered conclusions of law 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 in its Order on CrR 3.6 Hearing.

4. Gaines is entitled to dismissal of counts 2, 3, and 5 because the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the charged crimes.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Gaines was denied his <u>Sixth Amendment</u> right to representation by retained counsel of his choice who breached his trust by

inviting the deputy prosecutor into a private attorney-interview room to discuss plea bargaining in a case where Mr. Gaines was represented by another attorney who had not been notified of the meeting, not consented to the meeting, and was not there to represent Mr. Gaines.

2. Mr. Gaines was denied his <u>Sixth Amendment</u> right to representation by retained counsel of his choice after a breakdown in communication with counsel.

3. Mr. Gaines was denied his constitutional right to privacy under <u>Washington Constitution Article I. section 7</u>, and right to be free from unlawful searches and seizures under the <u>Fourth Amendment</u> of the United States Constitution when the trial court affirmed the search warrant for his car.

4. The trial court erred when it failed to enter any findings of fact regarding the search warrant that are relevant to its determination of probable cause and that permit meaningful appellate review.

5. The trial court's conclusions of law nos. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 are not supported any of the findings of fact.

6. Because the findings of fact do not support the trial court's conclusions of law, the conclusions of law must be stricken and the matter remanded for trial with the challenged evidence suppressed.

7. There was insufficient probable cause to support the warrant for the search and seizure of Mr. Gaines and his car on June 20, 2013.

8. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Gaines committed the offenses charged in count II unlawful possession of a firearm; count III, unlawful solicitation to deliver a controlled substance, Count V, conspiracy to deliver a controlled substance.

C. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

1. Procedure.

The State of Washington in Pierce County Superior Court Case 13-1-02512-1 charged JEREMY EDWARD GAINES, defendant herein, with Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. Supp. CP 294-95¹². The State also filed a Persistent Offender ["three strikes"] notice. Supp CP 296³. After numerous continuances⁴, on March 17 – 18, 2014, the court held a suppression hearing. RP 3/17/14 3-4 *et. seq.* The State conceded that the search warrant for the defendant's Puyallup residence was not valid and that

¹ Appellant has designated supplemental clerk's papers and also appended them to this brief for the convenience of the Court and respondent. ² Appendix A, Information.

³ Appendix B.

⁴ These are set forth in detail in section ____, the argument regarding denial of Mr. Gaines right to retained counsel of his choice.

the evidence taken from the Puyallup residence required suppression. RP 3/17/14 8. Mr. Gaines filed a memorandum in support of motion to suppress as well as a memorandum in support of motion to suppress [corrected]. CP 1-26; CP 26-52. Both memoranda contained copies of the complaint for search warrant and the search warrant⁵ itself.

The State sought to admit evidence came from Mr. Gaines' car, a Dodge charger. RP 3/17/14 8. That search warrant was dated June 17, 2013; however the complaint for warrant was dated June 18, 2013. RP 3/17/14 10. The State argued that sufficient probable cause was established where the search warrant stated that Mr. Gaines' involvement in the first controlled buy was that the car used was registered to Mr. Gaines and that when it arrived the individual matched the description of Mr. Gaines. RP 3/17/14 9. However, there was no testimony identifying the individual who identified saw Mr. Gaines as the individual in the car. *Passim*. Further, surveillance of that car followed that car back to Mr. Gaines' residence. *Id*. These observations, the State averred, were sufficient evidence to show that Mr. Gaines drove the car for the controlled buy. *Id*.

because the issue had not been raised in the defense, briefing nevertheless, that the error was a mere scrivener's error, "that the court was entitled to recognize them for what they are", and that they were not fatal to the search warrant. *Id*.

Mr. Gaines' attorney in fact did raise this in his corrected brief and could find no cases on point. RP 3/17/14 11.

The court took a recess to consider the issues. RP 3/17/14 13. When the court went back on the record, the deputy prosecutor supplemented the record with hearsay statements from the police office who presented the warrant. RP 3/17/14 14.

The deputy prosecutor reported that the police officer stated that he presented both document simultaneously to the Judge. *Id*.

The court stated that it would not consider the deputy prosecutor's supplemental information in its ruling. RP 3/17/14 15.

In its oral ruling, the court held that the discrepancy in the dates was a scrivener's error and that the scrivener's error in no way prejudiced the defendants. RP 3/17/14 15-16. The court noted that defendants had not raised the date discrepancy as a basis for suppression. RP 3/17/14 16.

The court ruled that any evidence obtained from a search of the Gaines' residence on June 12, 2013, was suppressed. *Id.*

Finding probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant for Mr. Gaines' car, the court noted that the complaint recited that Mr. Gaines had been "involved" in the local drug scene for nearly fourteen years, has and is familiar with controlled substances, including methamphetamine, which was alleged to be involved here. RP 3/17/14 17-18.

The court held that the defendant had not challenged the basis of knowledge for the informant, Jessica Handlen but rather had challenged the reliability of the informant. RP 3/17/14 18. Even so, Handlen never identified the individual who sold the methamphetamine to her on either occasion to be Jeremy Gaines. CP 1-26, Appendix B. Rather, police merely assumed based on some unidentified person's alleged glimpse of the driver during a "very brief" transaction with Handlen. RP 31-32. Schultz did not see that transaction. RP 87. He did not see the window down. RP 87. Although he testified that the window had been rolled down, he did so based on hearsay from an unidentified individual and also from his experience that one can't do a drug deal unless the window is rolled down. RP 87.

The court noted that the CI stated that she could purchase meth from Handlen and had done so twice. *Id.* The court noted that "entire transaction" occurred on June 3, 2013 and June 12 and was observed by officers. *Id.* However the court had suppressed the evidence from the June 12, 2013

incident and thus could not and should not have relied on that suppressed evidence. The CI contacted Handlen to purchase drugs on June 3rd prior to meeting her Handlen outside her residence and was told that she needed her supplier to arrive. *Id.* After the white Dodge Charger arrived, Handlen contacted the driver who matched the description of the registered owner, Jeremy Gaines. RP 3/17/13 18-19. Schultz testified that he did not see the driver of the white Dodge Charger because he was out of his target area. RP 88. Thus, in fact, there was no evidentiary support for that statement in the warrant. *Supra*.

The court nevertheless made a connection between Mr. Gaines and the June 3, 2013 delivery. *Id*.

The court found that the CI was reliable because she had participated in two prior controlled buys, had contacts with suppliers on the street and made arrangements to purchase narcotics, and conducting transactions. *Id.* Law enforcement did not attest that any of these prior controlled buys had resulted in arrests. *Passim.* Of course, the court had suppressed the June 12, 2013, transaction because the search was invalid. *Supra.*

On June 3, 2013, Handlen went to the Dodge Charger, contacted someone, and returned to the CI with the controlled substance. The court

found that this connected to him to the delivery and created probable cause for his arrest. RP 3/17/13 20.

The court found that the June 3, 2013 transaction provided "sufficient nexus between the defendant and between the crime and the defendant and the crime and his vehicle because the vehicle was used to bring the controlled substances to the June 3rd transaction." RP 3/17/13 20-21.

The court further rejected the argument that the period between June 3, 2013 and June 17-18, 2013 [dates of issuance of warrants] rendered the warrants stale. RP 3/17/13 21-22.

The court later entered findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding its ruling. CP 94-97. RP 3/17/13 34-35.

On May 15, 2014, the parties appeared before the presiding judge. RP 3/14/17 27. Geoffrey Cross presented a motion from Mr. Gaines to allow withdrawal and substitution of counsel. *Id.* Defense counsel also moved for a competency evaluation for Mr. Gaines. RP 3/14/13 27-28. The court granted the motion for a Western State Hospital competency evaluation and denied the motion for substitution of counsel. RP 3/14/13 30-31.

On 9/10/14, the trial court entered an order finding Mr. Gaines competent to stand trial. Supp. CP^6 .

On 10/16/14, Mr. Gaines moved to retain new counsel. RP 10/16/14 2.

Mr. Gaines had been trying without success to have Mr. Cross removed from the case since May of 2014. RP 10/16/14 28. The court characterized Mr. Gaines' conduct as "kind of a tantrum when he won't talk to you". *Id.*

Rather than focus on Mr. Gaines' constitutional right to retain an attorney of his choice when he had serious issues with the conduct of current counsel which had resulted in breakdowns in communication, the trial court focused on attorney Corey's trial calendar and decided that it was too busy to permit her to take the case. RP 10/1 6/14 8-9, 15-16, 19-20. The deputy prosecutor encouraged the trial court to take this view. *Id.* This was so because of his estimation and the trial court, she would not be able to get the case in before October 2014. RP 5. T¹ Appendix D.

His last reason, of course, was purely speculative and appeared to be based on the prosecutor's desire not to have a case against attorney Corey. *Passim.*⁷

⁶ Appendix D.

Mr. Gaines had refused to speak to attorney Cross when he visited him in the Pierce County Jail prior to trial. RP 4; Supp. Clerk's Paper ______ -Declaration of Geoffrey Cross 9/26/14. In fact, Mr. Gaines would not come out of his cell to talk to Mr. Cross. *Id.* Attorney Cross averred that there had been a total breakdown in communications. *Id.*

The prosecutor contended that Mr. Gaines was not entitled to a new attorney of his choice and particularly attorney Corey. RP 4-5. This was so because of his estimation and the trial court, she would not be able to get to the case in before October 2015. RP 5. This last reason, of course, was purely speculative and appeared to be based on the prosecutor's desire not to have a case against attorney Corey. *Passim*. The prosecutor characterized Mr. Gaines as "more or less throwing a tantrum that if he's not going to get what he wants, he'll just stop talking to Mr. Cross and force the Court's hand in giving him what he wants. And that's not how justice is handled in this court or any other court. So again, I have nothing to add. I think Judge Chushcoff made the right decision this morning." RP 6-7.

⁷ Subsequent to this case, a second whistleblower complaint was filed against the Pierce County Prosecutor. This complaint alleged that the Prosecuting Attorney had instructed his deputies to treat attorneys who had filed declarations in support of sheriff's detectives who had taken a position, contrary to that office.

When asked by the court whether he was ready to proceed, the prosecutor said that he was not in fact able to proceed with the <u>CrR 3.5</u> hearing: "It came as a little bit of a surprise that I was getting assigned out on this case today." RP 9.

The deputy prosecutor Jesse Williams complained at length about the age of the case when it was clear that the age of the case at least in part was attributable to the State's failure to make timely discovery and to his own trial schedule. RP 13-14, 14-15.

Although there had been a breakdown in communications and a lack of trust between Mr. Gaines and his counsel after counsel Cross and the deputy prosecutor entered the interview room and attempted to plea bargain a case where Mr. Gaines was represented by attorney Corey. RP 10/16/14 12. Neither counsel had notified attorney Corey of their intention to attempt to plea bargain the case in which she represented Mr. Gaines. RP 10/16/14 12 12. These attorneys, neither Cross nor the deputy prosecutor, had informed attorney Corey of their intent to contact Mr. Gaines and certainly had not conveyed any plea offer to her. *Id.* Their conduct was improper under Rule of Professional Responsibility 4.2⁸ Mr. Gaines would not speak to counsel Cross.

Id.

Counsel Cross had been moving to get off the case since May, 2013.

RP 10/16/14 5. Counsel informed the court that Mr. Gained had been trying to

discharge Mr. Cross since May, 2014, six months prior to the motion date. RP

10/16/14 18.

The trial court did not consider any of the arguments on the merits.

Passim. Rather the trial court speculated on attorney Corey's pending trial schedule and those cases⁹ would settle or go to trial. RP 10/16/14 8, 15, 19.

⁸ RPC Rule 4.2: Communication with person represented by counsel: "In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order."

⁹ To the extent that it is even relevant, the trial and the prosecutor were simply wrong about their predictions of attorney Corey's caseload. The trial court referred by name to many cases that would prohibit what the trial court believed was a timely trial. It is a matter of public record that Brady, #13-1-03593-8, entered guilty pleas and was sentenced on 2/4/15; Overly, #13-1-02658-1, counsel [retained] allowed to withdraw and a third attorney appointed; Page, #13-1-02687-4, dismissed per global resolution of cases, #13-1-04609-3, dismissed per global resolution of cases; 13-1-04937-8, pleaded guilty to assault 2, dismissal of attempted first degree attempted robbery and assault 2; Flewellen, #12-1-024040-1, assault of child 2- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00732-2 – attempted murder 1- trial – not guilty; Banks – 13-1-00457-0 – pleaded guilty to Unlawful Possession of a Firearm 2, dismissal of assault 2; Jefferson -13-1-02796-0 – trial – guilty – att murder

The deputy prosecutor predicted that attorney Corey would not be able to try the case until October 2015. RP 10/16/14 14. Of course, the deputy prosecutor had no basis for this prediction and may well have an improper motive¹⁰.

Judge Bryan Chuschoff, who heard the motion for substitution, set the matter for trial, thereby denying the motion for substitution. Mr. Cross remained on the case. RP 1.

After the motion for substitution by attorney was denied so that the matter could immediately could proceed to trial, the parties appeared before Judge Felnagle on September 30, 2014. A joint motion for continuance was granted because "defendant" was trying to track down material witness. Witnesses for the State were not available. Status of defendant's representation "up in the air." Supp. CP¹¹.

The parties appeared before the Honorable Thomas J. Felnagle for trial on October 16, 2014. RP 1.

^{1,} assault 1, UPFA 1. All of these cases were resolved by the end of May, 2015.

¹⁰ The case of Michael Ames v. Pierce County, #13-1-02658-1, is a matter of public record. It is also a matter of public record that attorney Corey filed a declaration in support of Ames' character on April 14, 2014. After that Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney instructed his deputies not to give "good deals" to the attorneys who signed declarations in support of Ames. See Appendix E. ¹¹ Appendix F.

During trial, the State's witness Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory forensic technician Maureena Dudschus testified that, based on her examination of State's Exhibit #1, the suspected methamphetamine was *not* methamphetamine at all. RP 143. The State asked this question again to confirm that the expert had not erred in her testimony. *Id.* Dudschus identified the substances as MSM, methylsulfonylmethane, a dietary supplement, that is not a controlled substance. RP 146. It is sometimes used as a cutting agent with methamphetamine, but it is not methamphetamine. RP 146.

Upon receipt of those answers, the deputy prosecutor asked for a "full break" and then returned with a Third Amended Information changing the charge of Unlawful Delivery of a Controlled to Unlawful Distribution of an Imitation Controlled Substance. CP 300; RP 144.

During his trial testimony, Officer Shipp, who had been unable to identify Mr. Gaines at the CrR 3.5 hearing two days earlier, identified him before the jury. RP 153-54. He testified that he was able to do so because after he failed to do so in court, he returned to his office and looked at booking photos of Mr. Gaines. RP 155. Defense counsel failed to object to this testimony. *Id.*

The prosecutor asked Shipp the leading question, "And fair to say that the reason you may not arrested Mr. Gaines or recognized Mr. Gaines two days ago us because you see a lot of faces in your work?" RP 155. Defense counsel also failed to object to this patently improper question. *Id.*

At the conclusion of Shipp's testimony, the prosecutor asked for another recess to amend the information. RP 156. The deputy prosecutor's third amended information had incorrectly charged Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute, a non-existent offense. RP 156.

The court instructed the jury that the prosecutor had charged Mr. Gaines with Unlawful Distribution of an Imitation Controlled Substance. RP 176.

The trial court failed to address this important concern. 4.2. Id.

After the State rested, the defendant made a motion to dismiss. RP 236-237. Defense counsel argued for dismissal of Count I, because the State had failed to present any evidence that Mr. Gaines ever had represented that he was selling methamphetamine as well as that he had ever sold any "bunk", imitation or counterfeit controlled substance. *Id.* The Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory technician had identified the substance as methylsulfonylmethane, commonly known as MSM, a dietary supplement. RP

143. This is not a controlled substance. RP 146. It is not illegal to possess this substance any more than it is illegal to possess baking soda.

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