A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Did the lower court properly manage its docket by denying

defendant' s unreasonable day -of -trial motion for a continuance to

make a third substitution of counsel for an unavailable attorney in

a co- defendant case that had been pending trial for over a year? 

2. Is defendant incapable of overcoming the presumptive

validity of the vehicle -search warrant used to confiscate unlawfully

possessed firearms and receipts from money transfers to

methamphetamine suppliers in Mexico as there was probable cause

to believe he used the vehicle in that illicit enterprise?

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

Cross. CP 300; RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 6- 7. Defendant then retained attorney

Corey as a substitute for Cross one day before trial. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 2. 

Ms. Corey urged Judge Chushcoff to authorize the third substitution when
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the parties appeared for trial. Id. at 2, 4- 6. Judge Chushcoff conditionally

granted the request: 

M]y view at this point is the Gaines case could go out to
trial, and if you want to be the lawyer out, that's fine with

me. Problem is you're in trial someplace else." 

Id. at 3- 4; see also Id. at 8, 18. Corey confirmed her unavailability, 

claiming it was " not a factor ... the court can consider." RP ( 10/ 16/ 14

JBC) 4, 7. According to her, the co- defendant's speedy trial right was also

irrelevant to the decision. Id. at 7. 6
Corey conceded her unavailability

would persist until February. Id. at 8. The court was concerned she would

actually remain unavailable for upwards of a year, even if half of ten older

cases assigned to her settled. Id. at 8- 9, 10, 15. The youngest of those

cases was 297 days old; four much older cases with incarcerated

defendants had been respectively pending trial for " 393 days", 461 days", 

623 days" and 779 days." Id. at 14. Several attorneys in those cases had

no expectation of settlement. Id. at 15. Corey responded by raising the

abstract possibility of settlements while only vaguely describing the actual

posture of her cases. Id. at 9, 14, 16- 17. The court's review of her cases

left it unable to conceive of how she could represent " with any

6 Co-defendant Ryan initially expressed a desire to proceed to trial before the end of the
year; however, after the court mentioned the problem of defendants delaying cases in
perpetuity through successive substitutions and the State expressed concern delay would
compromise its ability to produce civilian witnesses, Ryan stated he was comfortable
with the continuance required to accommodate Corey's appearance. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 
13, 16. 
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confidence" an ability try defendant's case " in a reasonable period of

time...." Id. at 16. 

Corey opined defendant could further postpone the trial by moving

for substitution when she became available, arguing " under Gonzalez his

right to ... retain an attorney of his choice trumps everything." Id. at 9. A

discussion as to whether there were any limits on a defendant' s ability to

indefinitely avoid trial through successive substitutions followed: 

COURT: So this goes on forever; is that what I'm hearing
you say? 

COREY: Your Honor, I want to cite Brady v. Henry. 
COURT: Can you answer my question, then you can cite
anything you want. 

COREY: I think he has a right to counsel of his choice, to

retain that attorney. 

COURT: So it can go on literally in perpetuity. 
COREY: Well, I would hope not. 

COURT: I would hope not, too, but what you're telling me
is that's what could happen. If you have enough money to
hire lawyers, or find lawyers willing to come in, they could
all come in on the day of trial, in perpetuity, and we could
do nothing about it. That's what I'm hearing you - - that's

the legal principle at stake here. 

Id. at 9- 10. Corey repeated her interpretation of Gonzalez-Lopez's holding

while making it clear she could not accommodate co- defendant Ryan's

request to be tried before the end of the year. Id. at 10, 12. The State was

concerned the delay requested to accommodate Corey would prejudice

defendants in her older cases, impinge upon the co- defendant' s speedy trial
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right, and compromise the State' s ability to produce drug -involved civilian

witnesses at defendant' s trial. Id. at 15. 

Cross: 

The court also addressed defendant' s choice not to cooperate with

My point is this: If Mr. Gaines chooses -- understanding the
court's rulings ... not to cooperate ... that is ... his choice, 

and this amounts to a kind of tantrum when he won't talk to

you [ Cross]. But that' s his call. He hired you. We've kept

you on the case. 

Id. at 18- 19. The court then reiterated its willingness to permit Corey' s

participation so long as it did not delay the case: 

Now, I don't really care whether Ms. Corey' s on the case or
not, but I do care that the trial date not continue any longer. 
So, I'd be perfectly willing to let Ms. Corey on this case, 
she' s also in trial right now in another case .... So that's not

my trying to keep [ defendant] from having a lawyer of his
own choosing. If Ms. Corey was able to try the case today, 
I' d say, great. You're on the case. We'll send you out to
trial. That would be fine with me. 

The problem ... is that he comes up with a lawyer of his
choice on the eve of trial on a very old case. If this was a
30 -day- old, 60 -day-old, 90 -day-old case, that's something
else. A one -year-old case with somebody else who is also
in jail, I have to have some concerns about this. And when

the lawyer getting into the case also has lots of other older
cases, I have to worry about that, too, that is - - how

realistic is this that [ defendant] is going to be tried anytime
soon? 

Id. at 18- 19. 

The Honorable Thomas Felnagle called the case for trial. RP

10/ 16/ 14 JTF) 1. Judge Chushcoffs decision to permit Corey to represent
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defendant was confirmed as was Judge Chushcoff s unwillingness to let

Cross withdraw. Id. at 3- 4. Defendant' s history of unsuccessful motions to

terminate Cross was discussed; however, no error has been assigned to

those rulings nor has a record of the associated proceedings been provided. 

Judge Felnagle declined to second guess Judge Chushcoffs rulings, 

opining he probably would have ruled the same way. Id. at 7- 8. 

Defendant failed to prove the trial court abused its discretion in

refusing to grant a day -of -trial continuance to accommodate an

unavailable attorney retained the day before trial. There is no requisite

showing of an arbitrary insistence upon expeditiousness in the face of a

justifiable request for delay. The record reveals the court was confronted

with, and carefully considered, nearly all the factors consistently upheld as

reasonable grounds to deny a continuance requested to substitute counsel. 

Defendant had been allowed to substitute counsel on two prior occasions. 

His trial had been several times delayed through nine prior continuances, 

many of which afforded the defense time to prepare. 

On September 30, 2014, defendant was given sixteen additional

days to resolve outstanding issues with his previously chosen counsel, but

did not retain Corey, his proposed substitute, until the day before trial. Of

all the lawyers he might have hired, he chose one guaranteed to remain

unavailable for at least four months, and apparently up to one year, due to

her competing responsibilities in older cases. He then sought at least

another four month delay on the day of trial in a one year old case
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otherwise ready to proceed. The requested delay was foreseeably likely to

trigger subsequent delays as the necessary participants fell out of the

alignment achieved on the scheduled trial date. There were no guarantees

that witnesses, co- defendant's counsel, the prosecutor or the court would

be able to similarly proceed in February when Corey thought she would be

available. Predicable future scheduling conflicts would likely result in the

other participants missing Corey' s apparently narrow, potentially illusory, 

window of availability. 

Added to those already adequate grounds to support the challenged

ruling, were valid concerns the requested continuance would impinge

upon the speedy trial rights of the incarcerated co- defendant who

expressed a desire to be tried at least two months before Corey might be

available, until the State indicated the continuance might compromise its

case. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 13, 16. The court had a legitimate interest in

ensuring the co- defendant was timely tried as well as in preventing both

defendants from misusing delay as a means of obtaining illegitimate

advantages in the case. Of no less concern were the speedy trial rights of

the incarcerated defendants pending trial in Corey' s considerably older

cases. Defendant's motion to continue was very reasonably denied. 

Appellant's brief denigrates the trial court's concerns about Corey' s

case load through an extraneous epilogue of how several of the older cases

vying for her time resolved. App.Br. at 12, n. 8. Such hindsight cannot

demonstrate an abuse of discretion, which must be evaluated from the
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record actually before the trial judge. In re Personal Restraint ofDuncan, 

167 Wn.2d 398, 408, 219 P. 3d 666 ( 2009). The information reported

nevertheless shows Corey was not relieved of all those competing

responsibilities until roughly three months after her supposed availability

for defendant's trial. That said, the epilogue' s irrelevance is only surpassed

by the impropriety of its inclusion in a direct appeal where this Court "will

not consider matters outside the trial record." State v. McFarland, 127

Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 ( 1995)( citing State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d

315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1237, 111 S. Ct. 2867, 115

L.Ed.2d 1033 ( 1991); State v. Blight, 89 Wn.2d 38, 45- 46, 569 P.2d 1129

1977); accord State v. Stockton, 97 Wn.2d 528, 530, 647 P. 2d 21 ( 1982); 

RAP 9. 11. 

Defendant then somewhat ambidextrously accuses attorney Cross

of acting inappropriately by meeting with the prosecutor to pursue some

potential advantage for the defendant while Cross remained his attorney of

record by judicial decree. As defendant's proposed substitute counsel ( and

now appellate counsel) acknowledged below, Cross was not permitted to

withdraw from the case— as Corey was not permitted to enter— without

the court's permission. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14) 2; CrR 3. 1( e). Cross consequently

continued to owe defendant competent, diligent, and constitutionally

effective representation. E.g. RPC 1. 1, 1. 3; Missouri v. Frye, — U. S. _ 

132 S. Ct. 1399 ( 2012). Defendant was free to seek Corey's opinion before

accepting any offers communicated by Cross, but he could not direct
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Cross to violate his obligations as an officer of the court, the court order

precluding his withdrawal, or the responsibilities attending his

constitutional role as defendant's counsel of record. 

It was Corey— not Cross— whose ability to act on defendant' s

behalf in the case was in question. One can easily imagine defendant

would now be attacking his convictions through a claim of ineffective

assistance of counsel had Cross disengaged from the representation as

defendant claims was required. In any event, Cross' s meeting with the

prosecutor did nothing to undermine the trial court's well -reasoned

decision not to further delay a one year old case to facilitate a third

substitution of counsel for an unavailable attorney. 

T]he right to choice of counsel must not obstruct orderly judicial

procedure or deprive courts of their inherent power to control the

administration of justice." Robinson, 662 F. 3d at 1032- 33 ( day of trial

request for substitution of counsel properly denied in year old case). As

with the counsel of choice reasonably refused in Miller, it was at least

unclear how much time accommodating the schedule of defendant' s most

recently chosen counsel would demand. Miller v. Blacketter, 525 F. 3d

890, 895 ( 91h Cir. 2008)( citing Gonzalez -Lopez, 126 S. Ct. at 2565- 66). 

Even if one assumes the unwarranted four month continuance requested

was reasonable, the court was not bound by that manifestly optimistic

estimate of Corey' s availability, when, like the attorney in Miller, the

record established " other [ scheduling] commitments ... [ which] may have
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made such a timeline unrealistic." Miller, 525 F.3d at 896. Contrary to

Corey' s contention, defendant was not constitutionally entitled to hold the

court, co- defendant, and prosecution hostage for an indefinite period of

time pending his final choice of counsel and the completion of whatever

matters vied for that preferred attorney' s attention. See United States v. 

Mohsen, 587 F.3d 1028, 1034 ( 9`h Cir. 2009)( no abuse in denying three

month continuance requested by chosen counsel where representation was

rejected because of the adverse ruling). 

b. The decision to deny the continuance was
harmless if error due to the absence of any
demonstrated prejudice. 

The denial of a continuance requested by a criminal defendant will

only be disturbed upon a showing the trial' s outcome would likely have

been different had the continuance been granted. State v. Simonson, 82

Wn. App. 226, 228, 917 P. 2d 599 ( 1996); State v. Oughton, 26 Wn. App. 

74, 79, 612 P. 2d 812 ( 1980) ( citing State v. Eller, 84 Wn.2d 90, 95, 524

P. 2d 242 ( 1974); State v. Barker, 35 Wn.App. 388, 397, 677 P. 2d 108

1983)). Prejudicial error must be shown even where an erroneously

denied continuance violates due process. In re Personal Restraint of

V.R.R., 134 Wn. App. 573, 581, 141 P. 3d 85 ( 2006). Whereas, erroneous

deprivation of the right to choice of counsel is structural error not subject

to a harmless -error analysis. Gonzalez -Lopez, 548 U.S. at 149- 52. 
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The trial court did not deprive defendant of his right to proceed to

trial with counsel of his choice. Defendant proceeded with an attorney he

retained after an earlier substitution of counsel. His day -of -trial request to

substitute that counsel of his choosing for yet another attorney was

granted. Nothing in the challenged ruling prevented defendant' s most

recently chosen counsel from requesting a postponement of the matter that

required her appearance elsewhere or from making arrangements for some

of her older cases to be transferred to available counsel. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14

JBC) 12; Hughey, 147 F. 3d at 433 ( court properly denied continuance and

ruled counsel of choice either needed to commit to the case or withdraw). 

Defendant cites Gonzalez -Lopez in support of his theory the trial

court committed structural error by denying the continuance, yet

Gonzalez -Lopez " was not a case about a court's power to ... make

scheduling ... decisions that effectively exclude a defendant' s first choice

of counsel." Id. at 548 U.S. at 152. That case addressed a deprivation of a

defendant's prepared and available counsel of choice. Id. at 143- 44. Since

the trial court permitted Corey to represent defendant at trial, the real issue

before this Court is whether the denial of the requested continuance, if

error, deprived Corey a reasonable opportunity to prepare. It was clear

from the colloquy, the trial court was inclined to give Corey roughly two

months: 

COURT: " Can you accommodate a trial date before the

end of the year, Ms. Corey?" 
COREY: "I think not." 
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RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 12. There is no proven reason to believe two months

would be inadequate to prepare for the trial. Although the temptation for

defendant to cast the court' s ruling as a denial of his choice of counsel is

easy to appreciate, the ruling cannot conform to the mold because it did

not bar substitution. 

Errors grounded in a trial court's failure to reasonably

accommodate defense counsel's trial preparation are not structural, for

they bear upon the effectiveness of the representation received. They will

not support reversal of a jury's determination of guilt when harmless. See

Gonzalez -Lopez, 548 U. S at 147; State v. Sain, 34 Wn. App. 553, 558- 59, 

663 P. 2d 493 ( 1983)( citing State v. Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175, 180, 550 P. 2d

507 ( 1976)). 

There is no proof of outcome affecting prejudice in this case as is

required for the reversal requested. See Eller, 84 Wn.2d at 96. The record

reveals defense counsel did his constitutional duty. Counsel successfully

challenged the search warrant executed at defendant' s house, and

apparently negotiated the case on defendant's behalf. RP ( 10/ 16/ 14 JBC) 

12. Counsel argued an assortment of pretrial motions. E.g., RP ( 10/ 16/ 14

JTF) 9, 10, 17. Thereafter, he cross- examined witnesses, proposed

instructions, moved for dismissal at the end of the State's case, presented

closing argument, argued for post -verdict dismissal, and sought favorable

treatment for defendant at sentencing. Eg., IRP 85, 112, 123, 129, 138, 

153; 2RP 163, 180, 185, 213; 3RP 270, 275, 303, 333, 337, 342. 
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Defendant's guilt was nevertheless firmly established by the evidence. 

Any conceivable error in the court's unwillingness to further postpone

defendant' s already unduly delayed trial to extend an apparently wasteful

accommodation to an unavailable attorney was harmless. 

2. DEFENDANT CANNOT OVERCOME THE

PRESUMPTIVE VALIDITY OF THE VEHICLE

SEARCH WARRANT USED TO CONFISCATE

UNLAWFULLY POSSESSED FIREARMS AND

RECORDS OF MONEY TRANSFERS TO METH

SUPPLIERS IN MEXICO BECAUSE THERE

WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THE

VEHICLE WAS USED TO TRAFFIC DRUGS. 

A criminal defendant bears the burden of establishing the

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